Climate Change Cook Islands



CLIMATE CHANGE COOK ISLANDS BIBLIOGRAPHY



Photo by Teina Rongo

Table of Contents

	Page
General Weather Information	3
Paleoclimate	3
Oceanography	4
Cyclones	5
Climate Proofing	5
Coastal Fisheries	6
Offshore Fisheries	6
Agriculture	7
Socio Economics	7
Greenhouse Gases	7
Hydrology	7
Climate Change Meetings and Conventions	8
Coral Reef Ecosystems	9
Cook Islands Climate Change Newsletters (compiled by CCCI, OPM)	9
Cook Islands Government Produced Documents (mostly unpublished)	9
Climate Change News Articles	10
Awareness	11
Disaster Risk Management	11
Financing	11
Videos	11
Coastal Management	11
Miscellaneous	12

The following are references to climate change related research documents conducted in the Cook Islands. They build on the research report conducted by Climate Change Cook Islands in 2013; subsequent unpublished documents to that report are included here. Note that this list may not be comprehensive.

General Weather Information

- Stoddart, D. 1975. Scientific studies in the Southern Cook Islands: background and bibliography. Contains information on meteorology including incidence of hurricanes. Atoll Research Bulletin No.190, Smithsonian Institute, Washington D.C., pages 1-30, (CIL, SPC Smith).
- 2. Thompson, C. 1985. The climate and weather of the southern Cook Islands. Misc. Publication 188(2), New Zealand Meteorological Service, Wellington, 69 pages, Marine Resources Lib).
- 3. Thompson, C.S. 1986. The climate and weather of the Southern Cook Islands. New Zealand Metrological Services, Miscellaneous Publication 188 (2). 57 pages.
- 4. Thompson, C. 1986. The climate and weather of the northern Cook Islands. Misc. Publication 188(3), New Zealand Meteorological Service, Wellington, 45 pages, Marine Resources Lib).
- 5. Baldi, M., Mullan, B., Salinger, J., Hosking, D., 2009. Module 3: The Cook Islands Climate— Variation and Change. Prepared for the Cook Islands National Environment Service and Cook Islands Meteorological Service. NIWA Client Report: AKL2009-032. NIWA Project: CIN09101.
- 6. National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research Ltd (NIWA): Module 3: The Cook Islands Climate Variation and Change, 2009, NIWA Client Report: AKL2009-032.
- 7. National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research: The Islands Climate Update (monthly update). Visit The Island Climate Update at: www.niwascience.co.nz/ncc/icu

Paleoclimate

- 8. Allen, M.S. 1992. Temporal variation in Polynesian fishing strategies: the Southern Cook Islands in regional perspective. Asian Perspective, 31, 183–204.
- 9. Allen, M.S. 2002. Resolving long-term changes in Polynesian marine fisheries. Asian Perspective, 41, 195–212.
- Butler, V.L. (2001) Changing fish use on Mangaia, southern Cook Islands: resource depression and the prey choice model. International Journal of Osteoarchaeology, 11, 88– 100.
- 11. Nagaoka, L. 1994. Differential recovery of Pacific Island fish remains: evidence from the Moturakau Rockshelter, Aitutaki, Cook Islands. Asian Perspective, 33, 1–17.
- 12. Yonekura, N.T., Ishii, Y., Saito, Y., Maeda, Y., Matsushima, E., Matsumoto and H. Kayanne. 1988. Holocene fringing reefs and sea-level change in Mangaia Island, Southern Cook Islands Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, Volume 68, Issues 2-4, 177-188
- 13. Sigumaru. 1984. Sea-level changes and tectonics in the Middle Pacific: report of the HIPAC Project in 1981, 1982 and 1983, pages 270.
- 14. Japan International Cooperation Agency. 1987. Report on countermeasure against coastal hazards by cyclone in the Cook Islands.
- 15. Kirch, P.V. 1996. Late Holocene human-induced modifications to a central Polynesian island ecosystem. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 93:5296-5300.
- 16. Gray, S.C., Hein, J.R., Hausmann, R., & Radtke, U. 1992. Geochronology and subsurface stratigraphy of Pukapuka and Rakahanga atolls, Cook Islands: Late Quaternary reef growth and sea level history Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, Volume 91, Issues 3-4, 377-394

- 17. Chikamori, M. 1996. Development of coral reefs and human settlement: archaeological research in the northern Cook Islands and Rarotonga. Indo-Pac. Prehist. Assoc. Bull. 15, 45–52.
- 18. Linsley, B.K., Wellington, G.M. & Schrag, D.P. 2000. Decadal sea surface temperature variability in the subtropical South Pacific from 1726 to 1997 A.D. Science, 290, 1145–1148.
- 19. Ren, L., Linsley, B.K., Wellington, G.M., Schrag, D.P. & Hoegh-Gulberg, O. 2002. Deconvolving the δ 18O seawater component from sub seasonal coral δ 18O and Sr/Ca at Rarotonga in the southwestern subtropical Pacific for the period 1726 to 1997. GeochemicaetCosmochimicaActa, 67, 1609–1621.
- 20. Steadman, D.W. 1989. Extinction of birds in Eastern Polynesia: a review of the record and comparison with other Pacific island groups. Journal of Archaeological Science, 16, 177–205.
- 21. Steadman, D.W. & Kirch, P.V. 1990. Prehistoric extinction of birds on Mangaia, Cook Islands, Polynesia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA, 87, 9605–9609.
- 22. Goodwin, I.D & Harvey, N. 2008. Subtropical sea-level history from coral micro atolls in the Southern Cook Islands, since 300 AD. Marine Geology 253, 14 25.
- 23. Walter, R. & Campbell, M. 1996. The Paraoa Site: fishing and fishhooks in 16th Century Mitiaro, Southern Cook Islands. Man and Culture in Oceania, 12, 47–60.
- 24. Moriwaki, H., Chikamori, M., Okuno, M., and Nakamura, T. 2006. Holocene changes in sea level and coastal environments on Rarotonga, Cook Islands, South Pacific Ocean. *The Holocene* 16 (6), 839 848.

Oceanography

- 25.Olsen, E., Barstow, S.F., Selanger, K. 1994. Wave Data Collection, Rarotonga, Cook Islands, July 1987 January 1991. SOPAC Technical Report 200.
- 26.Olsen, E., Barstow, S.F., Selanger, K. 1991. Wave Data Collection, Rarotonga, Cook Islands, July 1987-January 1991 (SOPAC Joint Contribution 86).
- 27.Torsethaugen, K. 1991. Wave Data Collection at Rarotonga/Cook Islands summary report 1989.
- 28.Barstow, S. F. & Haug, O. 1994. The Wave Climate of the Cook Islands. SOPAC Technical Report 200.
- 29. Anon. 2003. Pacific Country Report Sea Level & Climate: Their Present State Cook Islands.
- 30. Holden, B. 1992. Ocean Currents and Circulation Cook Islands Avarua Motutoa, Rarotonga. SOPAC.
- 31.Kirk, R.M. 1992. Analysis and Numerical Modelling Of Cyclone Sea-States, Avarua Area, Rarotonga, Cook Islands. Ministry of Planning and Economic Development, Government of the Cook Islands.
- 32.Kirk, R.M & Dorrell, D.E. 1992. Analysis and Numerical Modelling Of Cyclone Sea-States, Avarua and Nikao Areas, Rarotonga, Cook Islands. Ministry of Planning and Economic Development, Government of the Cook Islands.
- 33.Barstow, S & Haug, O. 1994. The Wave Climate of the Cook Islands. OCEANOR.
- 34. Gourlay, M.R. 1994. Wave Set-Up And Wave Generated Currents On Coral Reefs.
- 35. Gourlay, M.R. 1996. Wave Set-Up on Coral Reefs. 1. Set-Up and Wave-Generated Flow on an Idealised Two Dimensional Horizontal Reef.

- 36. Gourlay, M.R. 1996. Wave Set-Up on Coral Reefs. 2. Set-Up on Reefs with Various Profiles.
- 37. Massel, S.R & Gourlay, M, R. 2000. On The Modelling Of Wave Breaking And Set-Up On Coral Reefs.
- 38.Bureau of Meteorology. 2009. Pacific Country Report on Sea Level & Climate: Their Present State Cook Islands.
- 39. Bureau of Meteorology. 2010. Pacific Country Report Sea Level & Climate: Their Present State Cook Islands.
- 40.Bureau of Meteorology.2006. Sea Level & Climate: Their Present State Cook Islands.
- 41.Goff, J. 2011. Evidence of a Previously Unrecorded Local Tsunami, 13 April 2010, Cook Islands: Implications for Pacific Island Countries.
- 42. Bureau of Meteorology. 2004. Survey Report Precise Differential Levelling Cook Islands August 2004.
- 43. Yates., S.J., Lal, K. 2011. Edm Height Traversing Levelling Survey Report Raratonga Cook Islands.
- 44.SOPAC. Rarotonga Nearshore Bathymetry Survey Dataset.
- 45.SOPAC. Avarua Rarotonga Bathymetry Dataset.
- 46.SOPAC. 2006. Avatiu Rarotonga Bathymetry Dataset.

Cyclones

- 47.Loubersac, L., Dahl, A.L. and d'Ozouville, L. 1991. Comparison of two SPOT images acquired before and after a cyclone: application to the impact study of Cyclone Sally on Aitutaki Island (Cook Islands). In: Applications of remote sensing in Asia and Oceania: environmental change monitoring (Murai, S., editor), 269-273.
- 48.Cowan, G., Utanga, A. 1991. The effects of cyclone Sally on Rarotonga, Cook Islands (abstract). In: Workshop on Coastal Processes in the South Pacific Island Nations, Lae, Papua New Guinea, 1-8 October 1987. SOPAC Technical Bulletin 7: 127-128.
- 49. Cowan, G. & Utanga, A. 2012. The Effects of Cyclone Sally on Rarotonga, Cook Islands.
- 50.Ngari, A. 1995. Tropical Cyclone William 31 December 1994 -3 January 1995. Unpublished report, Cook Islands Meteorological Service, Rarotonga, 4 p. [copy deposited in SOPAC Library].
- 51.De Scally, F.A., Wood, G.V., Maguire, L.K., Fournier-Beck, M.A., Silcocks, D. 2006. A history of tropical cyclones and their impacts in the Cook Islands. Report for the Cook Islands Meteorological Service. 384 pp.
- 52.De Scally, F.A. 2008. Historical tropical cyclone activity and impacts in the Cook Islands. Pac. Sci. 62, 443–459.
- 53. Joint Typhoon Warning Centre. 1997-2010. Tropical Cyclones Information.
- 54. Brideges, E.M. 1988. Raratonga after Cyclone Sally.
- 55. Dorrell, D. 1976. Avatiu Wharf after Cyclone 1976. CEIL.

Climate Proofing

- 56.Gillie, R.D. 1991. Beach processes and coastal stability, Avarua-Avatiu coastline, Rarotonga Cook Islands, SOPAC, Technical Secretariat, Preliminary report 39.
- 57. Chaoxiong, H. 1999. Coastal mapping to assist with Development of a Strategy for foreshore protection and development, Aitutaki, Cook Islands. SOPAC Technical Report 292.

- 58.Stenhouse, R., Elrick, C. and Bond T, Draft. 2008. Climate Change Adaptation Technology Needs Assessment for the Cook Islands, Synthesis Report. Coastal Zone Management Pty Ltd, Perth.
- 59.Gerhard Zieroth: Mitigation Analysis and Technology Needs Assessments Mitigation.
- 60. Coastal Zone Management (Australia) Pty Ltd: Draft: Climate Change Adaptation Technology Needs Assessment for the Cook Islands, Synthesis Report.
- 61. Anon. 2004. Asian Development Bank, Climate Change Adaptation Program for the Pacific (CLIMAP), Cook Islands Climate Profile. p12
- 62.Asian Development Bank, Climate Proofing: A Risk Based Approach to Adaptation: Summary for Policy and Decision Makers, 2005. Report available at: http://www.acclimate-oi.org/strategie/04 bibliographie/Bibliographie COI E2008 V3/09 Pacifique/Climate%20Ch ange%20Adaptation%20Program%20for%20the%20Pacific.pdf
- 63. Asian Development Bank, Strengthening Disaster Management and Mitigation (Component 2: Preventative Infrastructure. Final Report TA 4605-COO) 2006.
- 64. Asian Development Bank, Climate Change Adaptation Program for the Pacific (CLIMAP), Cook Islands Climate Profile, Draft, February 2004.
- 65. Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA). 1987. Report On Countermeasures Against Coastal Hazards By Cyclone In The Cook Islands.
- 66.SPREP. 2011. Pacific Is Framework for Action on Climate Change 2006-2015.
- 67. Howorth, R. 1998. Rarotonga Tourism Vulnerability Pilot Study.
- 68. Bureau of Meteorology. 2008. Tsunami Warning and Mitigation Systems.
- 69.SPREP. 2009. Pacific Adaptation to Climate Change Cook Islands.

Coastal Fisheries

- 70. Hales, S., Weinstein, P., Woodward, A., 1999. Ciguatera (fish poisoning) El Nino and Pacific sea surface temperature. Ecosystems. Health 5, 19–25.
- 71.Rongo, T., Bush, M., van Woesik, R. 2009. Did ciguatera prompt the late Holocene Polynesian voyages of discovery? Journal of Biogeography 36, 1423 1432.
- 72.Rongo, T., van Woesik, R. 2011. Ciguatera poisoning in Rarotonga, southern Cook Islands. Harmful Algae 10, 345 355.
- 73.Rongo, T., van Woesik, R. 2013. The effects of natural disturbances, reef state, and herbivorous fish densities on ciguatera poisoning in Rarotonga, southern Cook Islands. Toxicon 64, 87 95.

Offshore Fisheries

- 74. Wichman, V. 2012. Fishing for Answers: Socio-economic assessment of the Rarotonga Game and Small Scale Fishing Industry for MMR and Cook Islands Fishing Association. Cook Islands Ministry of Marine Resources, p 58.
- 75.Bell, J.D, Johnson, J.E and Hobday, A.J. 2011. Vulnerability of Tropical Pacific Fisheries and Aquaculture to Climate Change. Secretariat of the Pacific Community, Noumea, New Caledonia.

Agriculture

76.Anon .2008. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO), Climate Change and Food Security in Pacific Island Countries, Rome, p 177 - 242.

Socio-Economic

- 77. Hajkowicz, S.A, Okotai P. 2005. An Economic Valuation of Watershed Management in Rarotonga, the Cook Islands. CSIRO Sustainable Ecosystems, Brisbane, Australia. 62 p.
- 78. Hajkowicz, S. 2006. Cost scenarios for coastal water pollution in a small island nation: a case study from the Cook Islands. Coastal Management, 34, 369–386.
- 79.MFEM .2006. Cook Islands cyclone recovery reconstruction plan 2006-2009. Ministry of Finance & Economic Management Report. www.mfem.gov.ck
- 80.Rongo, T, and van Woesik, R. 2012. Socioeconomic consequences of ciguatera poisoning in Rarotonga, southern Cook Islands. Harmful Algae 20, 92 100.

Greenhouse Gases

- 81.McGoldrick, W and Hosking, K: Second National Greenhouse Gas Inventory 2000–2006 and Second National Greenhouse Gas Inventory: Methodologies.
- 82. Youth & Sports Division Ministry of Internal Affairs, International Youth Day 2008, Youth & Climate Change: Time for Action, Final Report. 2008.
- 83. Andersons Ltd. 2009. Energy Audit and Energy Efficiency Guidelines.
- 84. Australia Bureau of Meteorology and CSIRO, 2011. Climate Change in the Pacific: Scientific Assessment and New Research. Volume 1: Regional Overview. Volume 2: Country Reports.
- 85.Cook Islands National Environment Service. 2010. Cook Islands: HCFC phase-out management plan. Developed with the assistance of the UNEP Ozon Action Programme, 38 pp.

Hydrology

- 86. James, T & Falkland, A. 2009. Responses of atoll freshwater lenses to storm-surge overwash in the Northern Cook Islands. Hydrogeology Journal, Published Online: Journal 27 November 2009.
- 87.Mason, P. 1999. Rarotonga Hydrological Network and Technical assistance programme Mission Hydrological station establishment and associated training. NIWA client report CHC99/64 prepared for Ministry of Works, Rarotonga.
- 88.AusAID. 2004. Upgrading of Mangaia water supply, Cook Islands. Project design document. From Ministry of Finance and Economic Management, Rarotonga.
- 89.Beetham, R.D. 1988. Cook Islands Rarotonga water supply project: A preliminary evaluation of the potential for large capacity, valley storage reservoirs. DSIR, NZ Geological Survey report EGI 88/074.
- 90.Binnie. 1984. Report on water resources and water supply of Aitutaki. From Ministry of Finance and Economic Management, Rarotonga.

- 91.Binnie. 1985. Rarotonga distribution system leakage test. From Ministry of Finance and Economic Management, Rarotonga.
- 92.Binnie .1987. Rarotonga water supply review summary report. Unpublished Binnie & Partners report, Ministry of Works, Rarotonga.
- 93. Carpenter, C., Jones, P. 2004. AN overview of Integrated Water Resources Management in Pacific Island Countries: a national and regional assessment. SOPAC Miscellaneous Report 554.
- 94.Clement, H., Bourget, L. 1992. Outline scheme for water development and management. Unpublished WMI report, Ministry of Works, Rarotonga.
- 95.Falkland, T. 2000. Mangaia, Cook Islands: Report on water investigations, June-July 2000. AusAID report held at Ministry of Finance and Economic Management, Rarotonga.
- 96.Herman, A., Parakoti, B. 2003. Detailed groundwater assessment for Rarotonga. Unpublished report, held at Ministry of Works, Rarotonga.
- 97.IWP. 2004. Draft of scoping study for Takuvaine Watershed. Unpublished report, Ministry of Works, Rarotonga.
- 98.Mason, P. 1999. Rarotonga Hydrological Network and Technical assistance programme Mission Hydrological station establishment and associated training. NIWA client report CHC99/64, prepared for Ministry of Works, Rarotonga.
- 99.Mason, P. 2005. Rarotonga Hydrological Network and Technical data summary for period August 1999 to June 2005. NIWA client report CHC2005-152, prepared for Ministry of Works, Rarotonga.
- 100. Zieroth, G. 2005. Feasibility of solar pumps for Mauke water supply. PIEPSAP (Pacific Islands Energy Policy and Strategic Action Planning) report. Available at: www.sopac.org/tiki/tikidownload file.php?fileId=512.
- 101. Dawe, P & Scholzel, H. 2000. Hydraulic Network Modelling of the Rarotonga Water Supply System. SOPAC.
- 102. McKean, J and Baisyet, P. 1994. Watershed management of the Islands of the South Pacific: Tonga, Cook Islands, Pohnpei (Federated States of Micronesia) Palau. USDA Forest Service. UNDP/FAO South Pacific Forestry Development Programme, RAS/92/361. Field
- 103. Document No. 5 November 1994. Appendix 5. pp. 59-85.

ication%20pages%201-30.pdf

Climate Change Meetings and Conventions

- 104. National Environment Service. The Cook Islands initial communication under the United Nations framework Convention on Climatic Change. Report available at: http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/natc/cisnc2.pdf
- 105. National Environment Service. 2011. Cook Islands Second National Communication under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Government of the Cook Islands. Report available at: http://www.environment.gov.ck/attachments/article/48/Second%20National%20Commun

Coral Reef Ecosystems

- 106. Goreau, T.J., Hayes R.L. 1995. Coral reef bleaching in the south central Pacific during 1994. Domestic Coral Reef Initiative Report, US Dept of State. 202 p.
- 107. Rongo, T. et al. 2013. Cook Islands Marine Park. Reef Survey of Aitutaki, Manuae, Mitiaro, Takutea and Atiu in the Southern Cook Islands. Rarotonga: Office of the Prime Minister, 3-61.

Cook Islands Climate Change News Letters (compiled by CCCI, OPM)

- 108. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter #1, 2012.
- 109. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter #2, 2012.
- 110. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter #3, 2012.
- 111. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter #4, 2012.
- 112. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter #5, 2012.
- 113. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter #6, 2012.
- 114. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter #7, 2012.
- 115. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter #8, 2013.
- 116. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter #2, 2013.
- 117. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter. 2013. April Edition #3.
- 118. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter. 2013. June Edition #5.
- 119. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter. 2013. July Edition #6.
- 120. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter. 2013. August Edition #7.
- 121. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter. 2013. September Edition #8.
- 122. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter. 2013. October Edition #9.
- 123. Climate Change Cook Islands Newsletter. 2013. November Edition #10.

Cook Islands Government Produced Documents (mostly unpublished)

- 124. Pacific Small Island State Project Cook Islands. 2013. Lagoon Results: 5 November 2013. Ministry of Marine Resources.
- 125. Ward, M. 2012. Supporting 100% Renewable Electricity Implementation. Pacific NAMA Guidelines.
- 126. Newport, C., & Tutangata, T. 2011. Mangoes in July, report on Cook Islands public service, climate change, functional review and institutional structure development. Government of the Cook Islands, Public Service Commissioner. 117 pp.
- 127. Government of the Cook Islands, 2012. Roster of Experts within the Public Service
- 128. Roster of Experts within the Public Service. 2013.
- 129. Climate Change Cook Islands, Office of the Prime Minister. 2012. Climate Change Definitions of Terminology and Acronyms. 39 pp.
- 130. Apidae. 2013. Assessment and Update of the SRIC-CC Strategic Results Frame Work Final Report. 47 pp.
- 131. United Nations Development Programme, Samoa Office. 2013. Adaptation programme proposal SRIC document.
- 132. Government of the Cook Islands. 2012. Joint National Action Plan for Disaster Risk Management and Climate Change Adaptation (JNAP) 2011-2015. 71 pp.
- 133. Government of the Cook Islands, Climate Change. Akairo Limited. 2013. Climate & disaster compatible development policy.
- 134. SPREP. 2013. JNAP Development and Implementation in the Pacific: Experiences, lessons and way forward. 117 pp.

- 135. Ministry of Marine Resources. 2012. Priority Adaptation to Climate Change for Fisheries and Aquaculture in Cook Islands. SPC, AusAID. 11 pp.
- 136. Climate Change Cook Islands. 2012. An Assessment of National Climate Change Priorities Alignment to the Regional Framework. Office of the Prime Minister.
- 137. Smith, A. 2013. Identifying the linkages of outcomes/actions and cost between the PASAP and the JNAP. Government of the Cook Islands, Climate Change.
- 138. Cameron, E. 2012. Government of the Cook Islands, Climate Change. Identifying the linkages of outputs/actions, and cost between the SRIC and the JNAP Vulnerability and Adaptation. 14 pp.
- 139. Blacka, M. J., Flocard, F., Rahman, P., Rayner, D. S., & Parakoti, B. 2013. Coastal adaptation needs for extreme events and climate change, Avarua Rarotonga, Cook Islands project stage 3: Coastal engineering vulnerability assessment. Unpublished manuscript, The University of New South Wales. 115 pp.
- 140. Cox, R. J., Panayotou, K., & Cornwell, R. M. 2013. Climate risk assessment for Avatiu port and connected infrastructure. Unpublished manuscript, The University of New South Wales,
- 141. Blacka, M. J., Flocard, F., & Parakoti, B. 2013. Coastal adaptation needs for extreme events and climate change, Avarua Rarotonga, Cook Islands project stage 1: Scooping and collation of existing data. Unpublished manuscript, The University of New South Wales. 21 pp.
- 142. Blacka, M. J., Parakoti, B., & Rayner, D. S. 2013. Coastal adaptation needs for extreme events and climate change, Avarua Rarotonga, Cook Islands project stage 2: Topographic and bathymetric survey data collection. Unpublished manuscript, The University of New South Wales. 21 pp.
- 143. Matamaki, T.M. 2013. Synthesis Report for Vulnerability & Adaptation Assessment in the Cook Islands. Cook Islands National Environment Service. 42 pp.
- 144. Tu'anga Taporoporo National Environment Service 2013. Tongareva Henua Climate Change Vulnerability and Adaptation Assessment. Cook Islands National Environment Service. 50 pp.
- 145. Wichman V. 2013. Vulnerability & Adaptation Assessment Report for the Island of Penrhyn. University of the South Pacific / EU Global Climate Change Alliance Project. 42 pp.
- 146. Tu'anga Taporoporo National Environment Service 2013. Manihiki Enua Climate Change and Vulnerability and Adaptation Assessment. Cook Islands National Environment Service. 38 pp.
- 147. Tu'anga Taporoporo National Environment Service. 2012. Enua Manu Climate Change Vulnerability and Adaptation Assessment Cook Islands, National Environment Service. 42 pp.
- 148. Tu'anga Taporoporo National Environment Service. 2012. Rakahanga Enua Climate Change and Vulnerability and Adaptation Assessment. Cook Islands National Environment Service. 32 pp.
- 149. Government of the Cook Islands. 2009. National Action Plan for Disaster Risk Management.

Climate Change News Articles

- 150. Pacific Adaptation Strategy Assistance Program. 2013. The Cook Islands planning to get more cyclone savvy. News Cook Islands.
- 151. Pacific Adaptation Strategy Assistance Program. 2013. A national approach to managing climate change in the Cook Islands. National Planning.
- 152. Pacific Adaptation Strategy Assistance Program. 2013. Preparing a nation for the impacts of climate change. National Planning.
- 153. Government of the Cook Islands. 2012. An Assessment of National Climate Change Priorities Alignment to the Regional Framework. Office of the Prime Minister. 8 pp.
- 154. Asian Development Bank. 2005. The Cook Islands—Climate Risk Profile1.
- 155. Asian Development Bank. 2005. Climate Risk Profile for Cook Islands.
- 156. BOM & CSIRO. 2011. Climate Change in the Pacific: Scientific Assessment and New Research Volume 1: Regional Overview.

157. BOM & CSIRO. 2011. Climate Change in the Pacific: Scientific Assessment and New Research Volume 2: Country Reports.

Awareness

- 158. McIntyre, M., Morioka, K., & Newport, T. Government of the Cook Islands, 2013. Cook Islands climate change adaptation, learning needs assessment: Volume 1 Report on Findings (2013001.1). Australia: Planning 4 Sustainable Development Pty Ltd. 57 pp.
- 159. McIntyre, M., Morioka, K., & Newport, T. Government of the Cook Islands, 2013. Cook Islands climate change adaptation, learning needs assessment: Volume 2 Background Information (2013001.1). Australia: Planning 4 Sustainable Development Pty Ltd. 94 pp.

Disaster Risk Management

- 160. Arnold, F.T. 2013. Legal Analysis of the Frameworks for Disaster Risk Management and Climate Change in the Cook Islands. Cook Islands Red Cross Society. 80 pp.
- 161. Pacific Catastrophe Risk Assessment and Financing Initiative Country Risk Profile: Cook Islands. 2011. 5 pp.
- 162. ADB. 2007. Strengthening Disaster Management and Mitigation.
- 163. RAIRI Designs. 2012. Avatiu Harbour Western Breakwater Extension.
- 164. Wilton and Bell. 1987. Avatiu Harbour Western Side Development Study.
- 165. The World Bank. 2011. PCRAFI Building Footprints and Infrastructure Location GIS Layers.
- 166. Haradasa, D., Cox, D., & Cox, R. 1988. Avatiu Harbour Rarotonga, Cook Islands, Western Breakwater and Harbour Layout Model Studies. Water Research Laboratory, UNSW.

Financing

- 167. Bell, B., & Yap, M. 2013. TA8237-REG: Supporting the pacific developing member countries in financing their climate change response. Wellington: Nimmon-Bell & Company Ltd. 101 pp.
- 168. Planning 4 Sustainable Development. 2012. Review of mainstreaming of climate change into national plans and policies: Cook Islands. Secretariat of the Pacific Community. 22 pp.
- 169. Joint Communique. 2013. Facilitating Climate Change Financing for the Pacific Region Round Table Meeting. Edgewater Resort and Spa.

Videos

- 170. Planning for Climate Change in the Cook Islands. 2013.
- 171. Cattania, P. 2005. Tropical Cyclone Meena, Heta, Nancy, Olaf 2005 Video Footage.
- 172. Cook Islands TV News. 2005. Tropical Cyclone Meena 2005 Video.
- 173. Dorrell, D. 1991. Tropical Cyclone Val 1991 Video. CEIL.

Coastal Management

- 174. Carter, R and Steen, J.E. 1984. Baseline Study for Coastal Management Reef, Beach, and Lagoon near Rarotongan Hotel Rarotonga, Cook Islands. SOPAC
- 175. Gillie, R.D. 1991. Beach Processes and Coastal Stability, Avarua-Avatiu Coastline, Rarotonga Cook Islands. SOPAC.
- 176. Japan International Cooperation Agency. 1992. The Study on Coastal Protection and Port Improvement in the Cook Islands Final Report.

- 177. JICA. 1994. The Additional Study on Coastal Protection and Port Improvement In The Cook Islands.
- 178. Dorrell, D.E. 1999. Cyclone Hazard Analysis of Existing Cyclone Sea-State Protection and Disaster Potential Avarua Town Area and Avatiu Harbour. Coastal Environmental International.
- 179. GHD. 2005. Coastal Protection Feasibility Study.
- 180. Stephens, S. & Ramsay, D. 2012. Climate Change Impacts On Coastal Inundation At Oneroa Village Mangaia. National Institute of Water & Atmospheric Research (NIWA).
- 181. Umeyama, M. 2012. Shore Protection against Sea Level Rise and Tropical Cyclones in Small Island States.
- 182. Bureau of Meteorology .1993-2009. Avatiu Tide Data.
- 183. SOPAC. 1994. Coastal Protection in the South Pacific.
- 184. Hill, P.J., et al. 1978. 1978 Cruise Report Avarua Avatiu.
- 185. Gauss, G.A. 1982. Sea Bed Studies in Nearshore Areas of Rarotonga, Cook Islands.
- 186. Gauss, G.A. 1981. 1981 Cruise Report Avarua Avatiu.
- 187. Richmond, B.M. 1990. Coastal Morphology of Rarotonga. Techsec.
- 188. SOPAC. 1994. 1994 Cruise Report Avarua Avatiu.
- 189. Chaoxiong, H. 1999. Coastal Mapping to Assist with Development of a Strategy for Foreshore Protection and Development, Rarotonga, Cook Islands. SOPAC.
- 190. Eagle Land Survey. 2013. Rarotonga Airport Survey.
- 191. Blacka, M., Rayner, D., Parakoti, B. 2013. Avarua RTK-GPS Survey. Water Research Laboratory.

Miscellaneous

- 192. Cameron, E & Rongo, T. 2013. Report on Climate Change Training Needs. Government of the Cook Islands, Climate Change.
- 193. Australian Bureau of Meteorology and CSIRO. 2011. Climate Change in the Pacific: Scientific Assessment and New Research. Volume 1: Regional Overview. Volume 2: Country Reports.
- 194. Identified From an Online Questionnaire Survey. Office of the Prime Minister. 7 pp.
- 195. Climate Change Cook Islands Division. 2013. Climate Change Research In the Cook Islands.
 Office of the Prime Minister.
- 196. Powell, G.B. 2013. An Overview of Possible Climate Change Legislation. Unpublished report. 19 pp.
- 197. Government of the Cook Islands, Climate Change. 2013. Cook Islands climate change policy assessment report and appendices. Rarotonga: Akairo Limited, pp. 2-48.
- 198. Woonton, N. Government of the Cook Islands, Climate Change. 2012. Draft climate change communications outreach guide (draft document). Samoa: SPREP. 9 pp.
- 199. Marsh, D., Raea, T., McFadzien, D., & Williams, A., 2009. No Te Ao Ora Vera. Cook Islands National Environment Service. 27 pp.
- 200. Tiraa, A., 2011. Boulders on the reef: Biodiversity and Climate Change in the Cook Islands: Are we walking the talk? Unpublished. Asian Institute of Technology, Bangkok.